IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
OF WESTERN ARKANSAS
                          Tony NENNINGER:

                                            Plaintiff,                   DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

                                                          Vs.               Case No.                                   

United States FOREST SERVICE;

Mark Rey, in official capacity as

Undersecretary for USDA;

Gayle Kimball, in official capacity

as Chief of Forest Service;

Don Palmer, in official capacity as

FS Special Use Program Manager;

John Twiss, in official capacity as

FS Chief of law enforcement;

Gene Smithson, in official capacity

as FS Incident Commander during

Fourth of July rainbow gatherings;

Ellen Hornstein, individually and in 

official capacity as FS legal counsel;

Officer Lampshire, individually and in

official capacity in FS law enforcement;

Officer Kragstadt, individually and in

official capacity in FS law enforcement;

Unknown John and Jane Does, 

individually and/or in official capacities

as agents for Forest Service and/or other

unknown federal, state, and/or local

government agencies:

                                         Defendants.        

COMPLAINT

     COMES Now Plaintiff Tony Nenninger, pro se,
 and complains that I have suffered damages in that my federally protected rights have been violated in the past and are imminently threatened with further irreparable harm.  In support of this verified Complaint and my requests for a temporary restraining order, declaratory and injunctive relief, and monetary damages I respectfully state:

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. This Complaint challenges the legality and constitutionality of Forest Service regulation 36 C.F.R. § 251.54(d) (1), (2) (i) (E); (e) (5) (v); and (g) (3) (ii) (H) (hereinafter referred to as the agent requirement) that mandates designation of a representative to sign a permit when individuals associate in proximity to 75 or more people while on National Forest land; and of unbridled administrative discretion to interpret the agent requirement; and of draconian police tactics to enforce that regulation.  Plaintiff Nenninger is unable to comply with the agent requirement without abandoning exercise of a central tenet of sincerely held religious beliefs because lack of agency relationships is a fundamental and necessary element of religious experience during rainbow gatherings on National Forest lands.  Furthermore, government coerced abandonment of exercise of this sincerely held religious belief would severely infringe First Amendment rights by curtailing the content of the religious message that is expressed by the conduct of peacefully assembling with diverse people who have no coercive control over one another.  Plaintiff Nenninger is unwilling to live in fear of or acquiesce in submission to illegal and unconstitutional law enforcement efforts to deprive statutorily and Constitutionally protected free exercise of religion and other Constitutionally protected rights.  Plaintiff Nenninger has unsuccessfully attempted voluntary conciliation with Forest Service officials to accommodate my religious practices, but is amicable to continuing mediation in conjunction with diligent prosecution of this litigation.
JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

2. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1343, 1367, 2201, and 2202 because this Complaint alleges violation of rights secured by federal laws and the Constitution of the United States pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1985, 1986, 1988, and 2000bb Religious Freedom Restoration Act (RFRA), First Amendment of the United States Constitution, Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution, and Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution.  This Court has personal jurisdiction over defendants because they are federal, state, and/or local officials who have participated in the acts and patterns of practice alleged in this Complaint while on National Forest lands in the past and/or who are currently or will imminently engage in a continuing pattern of acts alleged herein while within the jurisdictional boundaries of this Court. 

3. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (e) because Plaintiff Nenninger anticipates imminent harm from the continuing pattern and practice of actions by defendants while within this district, in that I intend to attend a rainbow gathering currently occurring within this Court’s jurisdictional boundaries.
PARTIES
4. Plaintiff Tony Nenninger is a practitioner of a sincerely held religious belief in peaceful voluntary cooperation among individuals who remain autonomous and free from binding representative agency relationships.  During the past fourteen years I have peacefully exercised voluntary cooperation with tens of thousands of other practitioners of peaceful voluntary cooperation as co-participants in annual Fourth of July rainbow gatherings occurring in undeveloped areas of National Forest lands.  I intend to continue practicing peaceful voluntary cooperation during rainbow gatherings while on National Forest lands.
5. Defendant Forest Service is a division of the United States Department of Agriculture and is charged by Congress with responsibility for administrative stewardship of public land owned by the United States Forest Service; and, under the color of this authority has promulgated the agent requirement and related regulations. 

6. Defendant Mark Rey, in his official capacity, is the Undersecretary within the Department of Agriculture who has Presidential Cabinet level executive oversight and administrative control of the Forest Service.  He has participated in discussions with Plaintiff Nenninger and other similarly situated citizens who are adversely affected by the agent requirement of the non-commercial group use permit regulations
7. Defendant Gayle Kimball, in his official capacity, is the Chief of the Forest Service.  His duties include comprehensive oversight of both resource management and law enforcement operations within the Forest Service.

8. Defendant Don Palmer, in his official capacity, is assigned by the Forest Service as the Special Use Program Manager.  His duties include attempting to foster Forest Service cooperation with rainbow gathering participants toward furthering common interests.
9. Defendant John Twiss, in his official capacity, is assigned by the Forest Service as the Chief of Law Enforcement.  His duties include oversight of law enforcement operations at issue in this litigation.  
10. Defendant Gene Smithson, in his official capacity, is assigned by the Forest Service as the Incident Commander for management of public assembly during annual Fourth of July rainbow gatherings.  This position involves oversight of the implementation of law enforcement strategies at issue in this complaint.
11. Defendant Ellen Hornstein, acted individually and beyond the scope of her authority under color of federal law with malice toward and/or reckless disregard of the federally protected rights of Plaintiff Nenninger and others similarly situated; and/or without malice in her official capacity as Legal Counsel for the Forest Service when she acted as an architect of the non-commercial group use permit regulations at issue in this Complaint.

12. Defendant Lampshire, acted individually and beyond the scope of his duties  under color of federal law with malice toward and/or reckless disregard of Plaintiff Nenninger’s federally protected rights; and/or without malice in his official capacity as a law enforcement officer on the Forest Service’s Incident Command Team assigned to regulate public assembly at the annual Fourth of July rainbow gathering during June and July of 2006 in the Routt National Forest in Colorado, and acted in such manners as to adversely affect Plaintiff Nenninger and others similarly situated.  

13. Defendant Kragstadt, acted individually and beyond the scope of his authority under color of federal law with malice toward and/or reckless disregard of Plaintiff Nenninger’s federally protected rights and/or without malice in his official capacity as a law enforcement officer on the Forest Service’s Incident Command Team assigned to regulate public assembly at the annual Fourth of July rainbow gathering during June and July of 2006 in the Routt National Forest in Colorado and  acted in such manners as to adversely affect Plaintiff Nenninger and others similarly situated.
14. Unknown John and Jane Does, who may or may not be previously named as defendants in their official capacities only, in their individual and/or official capacities for the Forest Service and/or other unknown federal and/or state and/or local governmental agencies acted as parts of a pattern and practice, with and/or without malice, to promulgate and enforce the Forest Service’s agent requirement of the non-commercial group use permit regulation in such a manner as to adversely affect Plaintiff Nenninger and others similarly situated.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS
15. Plaintiff Nenninger is among practitioners of a sincerely held religious belief in non-violence as a central tenet of religious experience.
16. Non-violence is a prominently practiced sociological characteristic of rainbow gatherings.

17. Law enforcement activities have frequently been perceived to compromise the atmosphere of non-violence during rainbow gatherings.
18. Plaintiff Nenninger is among practitioners of a sincerely held religious belief that cooperation motivated by love and without actual or potential coercion is essential to effective exercise of non-violence.
19. Peaceful voluntary cooperation motivated by love without actual or potential coercion in the context of free expression, equal opportunity, and tolerance among a highly diverse interfaith, intergender, intergenerational, and multi-ethnic constituency has been uniquely maintained to an extraordinary sociological level during rainbow gatherings. 
20. Defendants continue to be unwilling to accommodate Plaintiff Nenninger and others similarly situated with an equally effective and least restrictive of religious liberty alternative to the coercive potential of institutionalizing  rainbow gathering culture with sufficient legal authority to comply with the agent requirement. 
21. Plaintiff Nenninger is among practitioners of a sincerely held religious belief that peacefully assembling in circles in public places for purposes of meditation, prayer, expression, and to petition government for redress of grievances is fundamental for facilitation of peaceful voluntary cooperation.
22. A frequent objectively observable sociological common behavior during rainbow gatherings is instinctual peaceful assembly of ever-changing individuals in circles in public places for purposes of meditation, prayer, expression, and to petition government for redress of grievances; and, these circles often exceed 75 persons while on National Forest land, with the largest such circle typically consisting of 10,000 to 20,000 people gathered in a silent meditation for world peace from dawn until noon on the Fourth of July each year.
23. Defendants’ unwillingness to accommodate religious liberty interests with the least restrictive equally effective alternative to the agency requirement coerces Plaintiff Nenninger and others similarly situated into choosing between abandoning exercise of the sincerely held religious belief in instinctual circle assemblies and facing the jeopardy of up to six months imprisonment and/or up to a $500 fine.
24. Plaintiff Nenninger is among practitioners of a sincerely held religious belief that personal responsibility within the context of individual autonomy is a requisite for peaceful voluntary cooperation in the absence of authoritative agency relationships.

25. The high degree of personal responsibility assumed for voluntary peaceful cooperation that makes rainbow gatherings unique sociological phenomena as alleged in preceding paragraphs herein is proximately caused by avoidance of any infrastructure for legally binding collective agency relationships among all rainbow gathering participants.

26. The intended legal effect of the agency requirement of 36 C.F.R. § 251.54(e)(5)(v) would actually coerce Plaintiff Nenninger and others similarly situated into conduct violative of sincerely held religious beliefs by mandating profession of allegiance to an infrastructure for legally binding collective agency relationships among all rainbow gathering participants that does not currently exist.

27. Plaintiff Nenninger is among practitioners of a sincerely held religious belief that discovering divine guidance about where to gather is best developed through free expression by individuals assembled in circles in public places.
28. The individual consent of rainbow gathering participants to agree where to assemble is based on trust in the process of individuals taking turns listening to each others’ free expression while gathered in a circle on public land until sufficient information has been shared for well-informed individuals to autonomously choose whether and where to gather.
29. Defendants’ pattern of law enforcement practices has substantially burdened the ability of Plaintiff Nenninger and others similarly situated to seek divine guidance through free expression of public information about public lands by selectively targeting surveillance and enforcement of the agent requirement against individuals who scouted for ecologically appropriate sites for large assemblies on public land with the intention of sharing that information with circles of people on public land.  
30. Plaintiff Nenninger is among practitioners of a sincerely held religious belief that I must confront injustice with non-violent truth seeking (satygraha).
31. Mutual support for confrontation of injustice with non-violent truth seeking is strong among rainbow gathering participants because of various common acts including praying for miracles, political lobbying, publication of diverse ideologies in print and electronic media, civil disobedience, and judicial litigation.
32. Defendants’ law enforcement strategies have substantially burdened the ability of Plaintiff Nenninger and others similarly situated to exercise non-violent confrontation of injustice with truth seeking by:

a.  Maliciously and/or recklessly disrupting the sanctity of prayer circles during rainbow gatherings;
b. Being substantially unresponsive to the massive outcry of lobbying opposition and voluntary conciliation efforts presented by rainbow gathering participants, resource personnel within the Forest Service, local health departments throughout the United States, and some law enforcement officers; 

c. Maliciously and/or selectively targeting private internet publishers of information about rainbow gatherings with enforcement of the agent requirement or other charges; 

d. Maliciously and/or selectively targeting surveillance and enforcement of the agent requirement and/or other charges against attorneys and other persons assisting rainbow gathering participants with litigation related to events at rainbow gatherings;
e. Responding to non-violent protests of police actions with a threat of deadly firepower.
33. Plaintiff Nenninger is a practitioner of a sincerely held religious belief that autonomous intuition of what Good Samaritan deeds to do enhances miraculous karmic archangel protection for practitioners of peaceful voluntary cooperation within this life and for perpetual evolution of religious freedom from institutional and governmental control beyond our individual lifetimes.
34. Seemingly random acts of kindness are regular occurrences during rainbow gatherings and thousands of pilgrims to this sanctuary of love have continued to adhere to the instinctual drive to freely assemble for over 35 years, despite all manner of law enforcement efforts to either:

a.  impose agency relationships within rainbow culture and/or
b.  completely stop rainbow gatherings.

35. Law enforcement efforts by Defendants have substantially burdened Plaintiff Nenninger’s and similarly situated others’ reasonable reliance on faith in the availability of Good Samaritans during rainbow gatherings by maliciously and/or selectively targeting surveillance and enforcement of the agent requirement and/or other charges against volunteers at rainbow gatherings who:

a. Provide lifesaving medical assistance and other health care to rainbow gathering participants;
b. Provide citizen band communications services to facilitate peaceful association during rainbow gatherings;
c. Provide sanitary water supplies and kitchens to facilitate public health during rainbow gatherings;

d. Provide other services essential to further public health and safety, ecological protection of the natural environment, and otherwise facilitate peaceful relations among all National Forest users, including by way of example:
i. The scouts for ecological sites for large assemblies referenced in paragraph 29 ;

ii. The publishers of information on the internet referenced in paragraph 32c;

iii. The attorneys and legal advocates referenced in paragraph 32d;
iv. Ministers who facilitate inter-faith prayer circles.
36. Plaintiff Nenninger is a practitioner of a sincerely held religious belief in fostering inter-gender cooperation during rainbow gatherings and throughout the fabric of society by nurturing Goddess consciousness through conscientious hugs, sacred sensual massage, casual seasonally appropriate nudity in remote natural areas; pregnancy, birth, and post-partum support; cooperative child care support; sanitary water and food for parents and children; peaceful sanctuary for parents, children, and fellow family caretakers.
37. The sociological atmosphere of inter-gender trust and cooperation, respectful body acceptance of all manner, support for pregnant/birthing/nursing mothers, support for cooperative child care, availability of healthy food and water, and overall peaceful voluntary cooperation during rainbow gatherings is an extraordinary sociological phenomenon. 
38. Defendants’ unwarranted pervasive hostile law enforcement patrols of religious assemblies during rainbow gatherings in remote areas of National Forests have substantially burdened the ability of Plaintiff Nenninger and others similarly situated to experience a healthy and safe social atmosphere of inter-gender cooperation conducive to body acceptance, birth, peaceful parenting, and sanitary survival because of the fear of harassment and the overall distress and distraction from loving kindness caused by hostile law enforcement presence within religious assemblies.  
39. Plaintiff Nenninger is a practitioner of a sincerely held religious belief in facilitating religious alternatives to the conventional religious accoutrements of structured organization with selective knowledge keepers by encouraging an egalitarian ministerial social atmosphere.
40. Rainbow gatherings typically reflect a sociologically extraordinary egalitarian ministerial social atmosphere with contributions from both famous and largely unknown religious teachers from various parts of the Earth who share ministerial insights that foster the unique success of peaceful voluntary cooperation during rainbow gatherings.
41. Defendants’ refusal to accommodate the least restrictive equally effective alternative to the agent requirement coerces Plaintiff Nenninger and others similarly situated to choose between abandoning exercise of the sincerely held religious belief in facilitating an egalitarian ministerial atmosphere during rainbow gatherings or facing the possibility of up to 6 months imprisonment and/or up to a $500 fine.

42. Plaintiff Nenninger’s adherence to the comprehensive tenets of nonviolence and peaceful voluntary cooperation detailed in this Complaint are motivated by sincere religious beliefs stemming from my own religious upbringing that rainbow gatherings are the contemporary manifestation of the Catholic prophesy of the second coming of Christ and continuation of the Loaves and Fishes Miracle; and that the Defendants’ law enforcement tactics restraining the religious liberties of Plaintiff Nenninger and others similarly situated are the continuing efforts of the metaphysical evil force to crucify Christianity.

43. In addition to fulfilling the prophesies of Plaintiff Nenninger’s Catholic tradition, rainbow gatherings also foster interfaith harmony by fulfilling prophesies and visions from other religious traditions, to wit:

a. The Hindu vision of interdenominational harmony; despite the continuing legacy of law enforcement retaliation for the satygraha practices of self reliance associated with the religious tradition of Gandhian civil disobedience as characterized by law enforcement display of potential deadly firepower and assaults upon rainbow gathering attendees;

b. The Goddess vision of experiential inter-gender nurturing harmony; despite the continuing legacy of witch hunts characterized by an unwarranted domineering law enforcement presence within rainbow gatherings;

c. The Sufi vision of facilitating interdenominational harmony with religious circle dance experiences; despite the continuing legacy of law enforcement marginalization of the experiential nature of peace by efforts to stop people from assembling at rainbow gatherings;

d. The Gypsy vision of harmonizing the autonomy of people with nomadic lifestyles through periodic assemblies to celebrate religious freedom; despite the continuing legacy of law enforcement harassment of nomads with profiled traffic stops;
e. The Native American  prophesies of a sub-culture from within Western Civilization that harmonizes with indigenous cultures and nature; despite the continuing legacy of genocide by law enforcement oppression of free assembly of autonomous individuals on isolated public lands;

f. The Rastafarian prophecies of harmonious re-uniting of diverse tribes through sacramental use of cannabis; despite the continuing legacy of law enforcement extremes to invade the privacy of citizens with unreasonable searches and seizures in vehicles approaching rainbow gatherings and within the sanctity of camps in isolated areas; 

g. The Jewish vision of social justice and the true coming of the Messiah through jubilee for all; despite the continuing legacy of the holocaust by law enforcement attempts to destroy the autonomy of rainbow gathering participants with the agent requirement;

h. The early Christian vision of communal egalitarian cooperation; despite the continuing legacy of church-state corruption perpetuated by prosecutorial arguments that rainbow gatherings are not religious because of a lack of conformance to orthodoxy.
44. Defendants’ efforts to promulgate and enforce the agent requirement undermine the autonomy that facilitates the harmonization of diverse religious faiths into a highly functional global model community of voluntary peaceful cooperation.
45. Plaintiff Nenninger is a practitioner of sincerely held religious beliefs reflected by traditional accoutrements of religion, to wit:

a. Metaphysical karmic protection results from good deeds;

b. The ultimate purpose of human existence is to evolve loving consciousness;

c. Propagation of the faith of love is most effective by example;
d. Articulation of the faith in writing helps clarify and strengthen practice;

e. Open appearance of uncut hair and nudity are expressions of nonviolent compliance with the divine directives of nature;

f. Preference for a vegetarian diet facilitates peaceful voluntary cooperation;
g. Abstinence from social alcohol consumption facilitates peaceful voluntary cooperation;

h. Sacred recognition of holidays based on natural cycles such as solstices, equinoxes, lunar phase changes, sunrises and sunsets; with a special emphasis on celebration of religious liberty in the United States during the Fourth of July holiday  maintains the continuity of visionary religious idealism;
i. Certain geological places communicate sacred messages directly from the spiritual intelligence of Earth to receptive humans;

j. Humans receptive to messages from the Earth can propagate faith in those ecological visions by sharing communication;

k. Assembly in circles is sacred, in particular for purposes of:

i. The annual Fourth of July meditation and celebration for world peace during rainbow gatherings;

ii. sharing inspirational counsel with each other for the purpose of non-violent conflict resolution and creative problem-solving;

iii. to share prayers, silent meditation, and yoga;

iv. to share free food;

v. to be a willing audience and/or participant in story telling, acoustic music, and drumming into the late hours of the night;

vi. to assemble around symbolically decorated and ritually placed prayer poles ceremonially arranged and planted in the Earth at the “kid village” camp and at the epicenter of the Fourth of July meditation and celebration for world peace;
46. Rainbow gatherings reflect typical indicia of religious accoutrements that reflect the comprehensive faith in non-violence, to wit:
a. Religious exercise is commonly expressed in terms of metaphysical beliefs in cosmic protection of the safety of people who are doing good deeds;

b. Religious exercise is commonly expressed in terms of ultimate ideas of human purpose to practice visionary idealism as a beacon of hope for world peace;

c. Religious exercise is commonly expressed and propagated by example into the visionary ideals of individuals and communities affected by rainbow gatherings;

d. Religious exercise  is commonly expressed in the writings of individuals and cooperatives in visionary terms of morals and ethical guidelines;
e. Religious exercise is commonly expressed through appearances such as long hair, dreadlocks, unshaven bodies, and nudity;
f. Religious exercise is commonly expressed with a preference that all food shared in large circles and most small circles is vegetarian;

g. Religious exercise is commonly expressed through strong discouragement of alcohol consumption outside of close proximity to parking areas located a long way from the rainbow gathering camps, trails, and main roads for ingress and egress; 

h. Religious exercise is commonly expressed in conjunction with holidays such as the climactic buildup of cooperative religious diversity from the nature based religious holiday of the summer solstice to the most patriotic holiday in the United States of America on the Fourth of July;

i. Religious exercise is commonly expressed in conjunction with a quest for sacred gathering places;

j. Religious exercise is commonly expressed through profuse communication of ecological principles and practices;

k. Religious exercise is commonly expressed ritually and ceremonially in the context of circular assemblies during rainbow gatherings, to wit:
i. Between 10,000 and 20,000 people maintain nearly absolute silence starting at dawn on the Fourth of July, hold hands in a circle that is sometimes more than a mile in circumference, and chant om while a parade of over 1000 children penetrate the center of the circle at noon to commence the celebration of one more year of spiritually guided instinctual assembly and expression of diverse religious liberty in America;
ii. Circles of three to hundreds of people commonly assemble to share inspirational counsel with each other for the purpose of non-violent conflict resolution;

iii. Circles of three to thousands of people commonly assemble to share prayer, meditation, yoga, and other religious practices;

iv. Circles of three to several thousand people commonly assemble to share free food;
v. Circles of three to several thousand people commonly assemble for expression of religious celebration with folk story telling, acoustic music, and drumming into the late hours of night;

vi. Circles of three to several thousand people commonly assemble around symbolically decorated and ritually placed prayer poles and medicine wheels temporarily arranged and planted in the Earth.
47. Despite indicia of the religious character of rainbow gatherings, Defendants continue to refuse to attempt to offer the least restrictive equally effective alternative to the agent requirement.

48. Plaintiff Nenninger is a practitioner of a sincere religious belief that use of remote public land is necessary to insure the neutrality requisite for peaceful voluntary cooperation during rainbow gatherings.

49. National Forest lands are the only public lands that normally allow free public access to isolated areas and that are known to have the ecological conditions necessary for peaceful religious assembly during annual Fourth of July rainbow gatherings.
50. Defendants’ unwillingness to provide the least restrictive equally effective alternative to the agent requirement deprives Plaintiff Nenninger and others similarly situated of the only traditional public forum available to legally assemble for exercise of the religious liberties enumerated in this Complaint.

51. In 1985 Plaintiff Nenninger participated for the first time in an annual Fourth of July rainbow gathering in Crawford County, Missouri in the Mark Twain National Forest because a friend invited me to volunteer my plumbing skills to develop a spring as a source of water to grow sprouted seeds for free distribution to feed people at that rainbow gathering.  I felt inspired by this volunteerism and did not experience any law enforcement interference with my practice of peaceful voluntary cooperation during my month long participation in that gathering. 

52. Plaintiff Nenninger attended an annual Fourth of July rainbow gathering for the second time in Kentucky and Alabama in 1993, was inspired by volunteerism, and did not experience any law enforcement interference with my practice of peaceful voluntary cooperation at either of those two sites during that year.

53. Plaintiff Nenninger attended an annual Fourth of July rainbow gathering for the third time in New Mexico in 1995, felt inspired by volunteerism, and did not experience any law enforcement interference with my practice of peaceful voluntary cooperation.

54. Between October of 1993 and May of 2003 Plaintiff Nenninger participated in peaceful voluntary cooperation during numerous seasonal regional rainbow gatherings in the Shawnee National Forest in Southern Illinois and in National Forests in Missouri and Arkansas.

55. Plaintiff experienced no law enforcement interference with my practice of peaceful voluntary cooperation during annual Fourth of July rainbow gatherings or the regional rainbow gatherings described in paragraph 54 until one month before the effective date of the Forest Service’s most recent promulgation of regulations requiring designation of a representative agent to sign a permit whenever 75 or more persons assemble on National Forest land.

56. In August of 1995, one month before the challenged agent requirement became effective, Plaintiff Nenninger attended an Ozark regional rainbow gathering in Crawford County, Missouri at the site of the 1985 annual Fourth of July gathering referenced in paragraph 51.
57. During the regional rainbow gathering referenced in paragraph 56, I was subjected to a law enforcement traffic stop near a rainbow gathering for the first time; however, Sheriff Al Englebrecht ceased his officers’ participation in road stops targeted at the rainbow gathering immediately after being informed of Forest Service hostile patterns of practice of involving local law enforcement in selective enforcement of traffic stops.
58. During the regional rainbow gathering referenced in paragraph 56, I showed a written sanitation report from the local Health Department to law enforcement agents for the Forest Service requesting that vehicles stop crossing the stream upstream from where people were immersing in the creek; but, the Forest Service officials ignored said notice of the sanitation report and continued to endanger the public health by repeatedly driving through the creek without just cause, at one point snidely commenting “there’s that rainbow lawyer” in reference to me and in retaliation for my filing a peace disturbance complaint with the Sheriff on account of the acts alleged in paragraph 59; and then snidely remarking “we can drive wherever we want to; we are law enforcement.”
59. During the regional rainbow gathering referenced in paragraph 56, I witnessed Forest Service law enforcement agents cause peace disturbance to me and numerous others by activating their emergency lights and siren at approximately 10 p.m. directly in front of the “kid’s village” camp immediately after crossing the creek referenced in paragraph 58, all without any legitimate articulable reason.

60. During the 1996 annual Fourth of July rainbow gathering is Missouri, Plaintiff Nenninger was fearful of police confrontation with a roadblock later declared unconstitutional as alleged with more particularity in Count II hereinafter; and I drove on back roads to avoid the roadblock on several occasions during ingress and egress at that gathering.
61. During the 1996 annual Fourth of July rainbow gathering in Missouri, Plaintiff Nenninger’s peace was disturbed by law enforcement officers, some of whom were mounted on horses, who entered the middle of the crowded “kid village” camp without any articulable law enforcement reason and nearly provoked a riot that necessitated a protective escort by peace keepers from within rainbow culture.

62. During a 1998 regional rainbow gathering near the Eleven Point River in Missouri, Plaintiff Nenninger’s peace was disturbed by knowledge that law enforcement officers were targeting me with prosecution for refusal to sign a group use permit in retaliation for my willingness to discuss logistics for the rainbow gathering with resource management officers; and said disturbance caused me to go into hiding in the forest and to hide under the covers inside a friend’s van who was driving me out of the gathering site to seek legal advice.

63. During the 1998 regional rainbow gathering near the Eleven Point River, Plaintiff Nenninger’s peace was disturbed by knowledge that he and other volunteers who intended to install a temporary plastic pipe into the head of a natural spring for supplying water for cooking, cleaning, and filtering for drinking were being threatened with prosecution in retaliation for our efforts to provide this public health service; thus, again coercing me into hiding.
64. Plaintiff Nenninger has gone into hiding because of feeling coerced by unwarranted law enforcement surveillance within private camps and consequent reasonable fear of selective enforcement and malicious prosecution in retaliation for participation in regional rainbow gatherings in Missouri between 1998 and 2003 in National Forests near:

a. Cook’s Spring in Missouri;
b.  Tom Sauk Mountain in Missouri; and,
c. at the site of the 1996 annual Fourth of July rainbow gathering in Missouri.

65. There has been a continuing pattern of confrontation between Forest Service law enforcement officials with Plaintiff Nenninger and/or others similarly situated during annual Fourth of July rainbow gatherings ever since the Forest Service began enforcing the agent requirement when it first became effective in September of 1995.
66. Plaintiff Nenninger is 49 years old with arthritis and is sick and tired of running from law enforcement officers as a condition of exercise of my sincerely held religious beliefs.

67. Among, and in addition to, those tens of thousands of fellow practitioners of peaceful voluntary cooperation with whom Plaintiff Nenninger has personally associated as referenced in paragraph 4, paragraph 69 specifies numerous sub-classes of individuals who are similarly situated in that they may have an interest in seeking similar relief.  However, the interests of individuals in said sub-classes are distinguished from the interests of Plaintiff Nenninger because they are likely to have unique legal theories upon which to base their claims for relief that might result in different degrees of relief for different sub-classes of practitioners in that some fellow practitioners, unlike Plaintiff Nenninger, either: 

a. practice peaceful voluntary cooperation during rainbow gatherings as formal members of  particular religious denominations; or

b. are practitioners of peaceful voluntary cooperation among unrepresented autonomous individuals who do not identify this practice with a religious belief.
68. Plaintiff Nenninger is not aware of any attorney currently representing any particular potential co-plaintiffs, nor any attorney who is willing and able to represent the diverse interests of the entire class of individuals who practice peaceful voluntary cooperation at rainbow gatherings, nor any attorney who is willing and able to represent the interests of any of the sub-classes of fellow practitioners described generally in paragraph 67 and specifically in paragraph 69.  However, the declaratory and injunctive interests of all of said sub-classes of fellow practitioners referenced in paragraph 69 can be substantially satisfied if this Court grants the full measure of relief prayed for in Counts I and II herein.  
69. The following sub-classes of people are adversely affected by the agent requirement:

a. Routine Forest Users.  There is an inestimable number of persons in the United States who peacefully associate, and to varying degrees practice peaceful voluntary cooperation, while in visual proximity of 75 or more other persons as part of the normal course of public interaction among visitors to National Forest land.  These persons are harmed by the legal jeopardy they could be subjected to because the agent requirement of the Forest Service’s non-commercial group use permit regulation facially lacks any objective criteria to prevent law enforcement officers from arbitrarily selecting which sub-sets of the inestimable numbers of National Forest users to apply the regulation to in such a manner as to force otherwise legally un-affiliated persons to designate a legally recognized agent to sign a permit that contractually binds them; or to face imprisonment in a federal penitentiary for up to six months and/or be subjected to a $500 fine.  

b. Rainbow Culture Forest Users.  In addition to and including the tens of thousands of fellow practitioners of peaceful voluntary cooperation with whom Plaintiff Nenninger has personally associated referenced in paragraph 4, there are tens of thousands to hundreds of thousands of persons in the United States and tens of thousands to over a million persons globally who have practiced peaceful voluntary cooperation within the context of the culture commonly associated with rainbow gatherings and who have attended rainbow gatherings within the United States, and/or who desire to attend rainbow gatherings in the United States, and who are harmed by fear of illegal and unconstitutional law enforcement actions.  

c. Political and Legal Advocate Forest Users.  Among those fellow practitioners of peaceful voluntary cooperation described in sub-paragraph b) herein, there are between  dozens to over one hundred persons who have made good faith efforts of communication with Forest Service officials in an attempt to gain their peaceful voluntary cooperation to apply the non-commercial group use permit regulation in such an alternative manner as to waive the requirement that otherwise legally un-affiliated persons must form sufficient legal agency to designate a permit signer, while at the same time promoting the Forest Service’s legitimate interests; and/or who have investigated and assisted in resolution of legal controversies related to the signature requirement and law enforcement abuses against persons assembling during rainbow gatherings in the United States; and some of whom were selectively targeted and/or maliciously prosecuted in retaliation for their investigative and litigation roles in legal controversies. 

d. Ecology, Public Health and Safety, and Peace Advocate Forest Users.  Among those practitioners of peaceful voluntary cooperation described in sub-paragraph b) herein, there are between dozens to hundreds of persons who have been selectively targeted and/or maliciously prosecuted in retaliation for their peaceful voluntary cooperation in researching and sharing public information about Forest Service lands that may be ecologically appropriate for rainbow gatherings, for their use of citizen band radios to facilitate peaceful association during rainbow gatherings, for their rendering of emergency medical services to protect public health and safety during rainbow gatherings, for their provision of facilities such as water and latrines to protect public health and safety during rainbow gatherings, and/or for other activities necessary for peaceful association of people during rainbow gatherings. 

e. Traveling Forest Users.  Among those fellow practitioners of peaceful voluntary cooperation described in sub-paragraph b) herein, there are inestimable numbers of persons who have suffered harms from law enforcement traffic stops that deterred free movement without legal cause, that involved use of the agent requirement as a pretext for unnecessarily prolonged deterrence of free movement, that served as a pretextual basis for seizure to conduct canine searches of vehicles, that resulted in numerous false-positive narcotics dog signal instigated searches, and/or that involved unnecessary threats and actual use of excessive police force against non-violent persons.
f. Camp and Prayer Congregation Forest Users.  Among those fellow practitioners of peaceful voluntary cooperation described in sub-paragraph b) herein, there are inestimable numbers of persons who have suffered harms from law enforcement invasion of their reasonable expectations of privacy within their individual camps and within voluntary prayer assemblies.  

70. Plaintiff Nenninger is among each of the sub-classes listed in paragraph 69, as alleged with more particularity hereinafter.

71. Plaintiff Nenninger is a practitioner of a sincerely held religious belief that law enforcement officers and other governmental agents are individuals with a potentially loving heart behind their badge of coercive authority, that reasonable diligence to foster voluntary peaceful cooperation with government officials acting in good faith must be attempted, and that seeking relief through the coercive authority of the judiciary is only resorted to as the most minimal force necessary to protect against the evils complained of herein. 
72. Defendants have improperly delegated authority to a law enforcement hierarchy that is not responsive to:

a. the rights of Plaintiff Nenninger and others similarly situated to free exercise of religion in the traditional public forum of the National Forests;

b. The interests of Forest Service resource employees in the field;

c. The interests of local health department employees in the field.

73. Plaintiff Nenninger does not seek to extend the shield of the Religious Freedom Restoration Act or the Free Exercise Clause of the First Amendment to protect individuals acting to abuse the rainbow culture trust of respect for personal autonomy by abandoning the principle of non-violence in any manner—including by way of example:

a. Anyone battering a police officer, other government official, or any other person during a rainbow gathering; or anyone acquiescing in providing secret sanctuary for such person within a rainbow gathering;

b. Anyone attempting to impose a vigilante style of justice for any reason whatsoever during a rainbow gathering, beyond the minimal restraint necessary for a legitimate citizens’ arrest;

c. Anyone attempting to interfere with the ingress or egress of any person while traveling on a public road approaching or leaving a rainbow gathering;  

d. Anyone attempting to interfere with the ingress or egress of any person while traveling on pathways in the National Forests;

e. Anyone appearing publicly intoxicated outside of close proximity to parking areas, attempting to direct traffic while intoxicated, or operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated;
f. Anyone while defecating outside of a latrine, preparing food with filthy hands, or otherwise violating legitimate public health and safety terms of an operating plan;
g. Anyone substantially damaging ecology in any manner;

h. Anyone while violating any law when the activity is not related to the free exercise of a sincerely held bona fide religious belief.
COUNT I

REQUEST FOR TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER, PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION, COMPENSATORY DAMAGES, DECLARATORY JUDGMENT THAT AGENT REQUIREMENT IS OVERLY BROAD AND CONTENT BASED, AND/OR PERMANENT INJUNCTION  MANDATING USE OF LEAST RESTRICTIVE EQUALLY EFFECTIVE ALTERNATIVE TO AGENT REQUIREMENT
74. Plaintiff Nenninger incorporates the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 73 as if fully set forth here.

75. On May 15, 1986 United States District Judge Bilby issued an order dismissing criminal charges against two rainbow gathering attendees in Arizona for violation of the Forest Service’s non-commercial group use permit regulation in U.S. v. Israel because 36 C.F.R. § 251 at that time “impermissibly singles out those who wish to gather in order to exercise their First Amendment rights” in that it required a special use permit “for the purpose of expression or exchange of views or judgments.” 
76. On May 10, 1988 the Forest Service attempted to amend 36 C.F.R.§ 251.54(i) by adding, for the first time in Forest Service history, a requirement that a representative agent be designated to sign an application for a permit as a condition of non-commercial group use assembly.  See 53 Fed. Reg. at 16550, adding new sub-section (5).
77. On June 1, 1988 United States District Judge Justice issued an opinion in U.S. v. Rainbow Family, 695 F. Supp. 294, 313 (E.D. Texas) declaring the May 11, 1988 attempted amendments invalid because they had been improperly adopted in violation of the Administrative Procedure Act,  that the regulations still unconstitutionally made a fundamental distinction between expressive and other activities, and that the regulations were unconstitutionally broad in that they did not provide objective and narrowly drawn standards to bridle administrative discretion to approve or deny a permit application. 
78. On June 23, 1988 Judge Justice issued a second opinion in U.S. v. Rainbow Family, 695 F. Supp. 314, 322 (E.D. Texas) that denied the Forest Service request for a permanent injunction to prohibit an un-permitted rainbow gathering.
79. Judge Justice issued the final judgment in U.S. v. Rainbow Family on April 14, 1989 granting attorney fees and costs to counsel for defendants and wrote “The fact that the amended regulations add an additional requirement for a permit which does not appear in the earlier regulations, and which seems to be uniquely applicable to the Rainbow Family (citing to the new agent requirement in a footnote), while retaining a constitutionally repugnant permit scheme that singles out expressive activity of special treatment, further support this impression that the Forest Service has not been motivated in this litigation solely out of concern for the public health and safety; but rather has been motivated, at least to some degree, by hostility to the Rainbow Family.”
80. Between June 23, 1988 and September of 1995 the Forest Service did not require designation of a representative agent as a condition for non-commercial public assemblies on Forest Service lands.

81. Between 1989 and 1995, Forest Service resource personnel utilized an alternative to the agency requirement manner of regulation by developing operating plans in consultation with interested citizens to manage each annual Fourth of July rainbow gathering.  
82. The Forest Service produced letters approving the cleanup and environmental rehabilitation of the sites of annual Fourth of July rainbow gatherings for each year from 1989 through 1995.  

83. Between 1989 and 1995 the Forest Service solicited public comments regarding proposed amendments to the regulations declared unconstitutional in U.S. v. Israel and U.S. v. Rainbow Family.  

84. The overwhelming amount of public commentary referenced in paragraph 83 opposed the implementation of the proposed non-commercial group use regulations.

85.  The agent requirement referenced by Judge Justice “which seems to be uniquely applicable to the Rainbow Family” alleged in paragraph 79 remains in the final rule as a necessary condition prior to public assembly of 75 or more persons on National Forest land.
86. The agent requirement is not a content neutral manner of regulation in relation to any assembly of 75 or more persons who engage in the expressive conduct of demonstrating by example that there is a viable alternative social order to the coercive threat of agency type relationships.
87. The final rule designates the agent requirement as one of eight criteria the Forest Service must use when deciding whether to issue a non-commercial group use permit.  
88. The final rule requires the Forest Service to offer an alternative manner of regulation if any of those eight criteria referenced in paragraph 87 cannot be met and an alternative manner of regulation exists.  
89. Plaintiff Nenninger traveled from my home in Missouri to San Francisco in January of 2004, and with about 60 other concerned citizens from around the country, met with Defendant Rey and various Forest Service officials in an attempt to develop an alternative manner of regulation to the agent requirement.

90. Numerous other individuals have corresponded and met with Defendant Rey and various Forest Service officials on numerous occasions in an attempt to develop an alternative manner of regulation to the agent requirement.

91. On or about May 4, 2007 Defendant Rey wrote that the Forest Service has discretion with respect to enforcement of its authority to require non-commercial group use permits.
92. The statement referenced in paragraph 91 recognized “the unique nature of the Rainbow Family.” 

93. The statement referenced in paragraph 91 proposes that the Forest Service “refrain from enforcement of any permit requirement” provided that the “Rainbow Family” identifies proposed gathering sites prior to assembly, collaborates in development of an operating plan prior to assembly, and that participants follow the operating plan. 

94. There is no entity called “Rainbow Family” with any actual principal or agency legal authority to make the contractual offers, counter-offers, or acceptance for consideration detailed in paragraph 93.
95. The only actual agent who has ever existed on behalf of the phenomenon called “Rainbow Family” referenced in paragraph 92 is attorney Larry Daves, who was appointed through the equitable power of the court in the U.S. v. Rainbow Family case referenced in paragraphs 77, 78, 79 for the limited purpose of representing an unincorporated association that was found to exist in 1988; Larry Daves’ agency appointment was terminated on April 14, 1989 when Judge Justice dismissed the permanent injunction and awarded him $12,439.65 fees plus $1,229.44 costs. 
96. The sociological phenomenon called “Rainbow Family” referenced in paragraph 93 has never collectively entered into a legally enforceable commercial contract.
97. The sociological phenomenon called “Rainbow Family” referenced in paragraph 93 has no collectively held legally enforceable property interests.

98. The sociological phenomenon called “Rainbow Family” referenced in paragraph 93 has no authoritative legal means by which to collectively coerce individuals into conforming behavior.
99. Despite lacking the traditional vestiges of agency relationships referenced in paragraphs 96, 97, 98 the sociological phenomenon called “Rainbow Family” referenced in paragraph 93 has demonstrated the potential to manage annual rainbow gatherings at least equally effectively as Defendants’ current policy of attempting to coerce agency relationships into rainbow gathering culture in terms of sufficient:

a.  Peaceful voluntary cooperation with:

i.  Forest Service resource personnel;

ii.  public health officials;

iii.  law enforcement officials acting in good faith when summoned for a crime;

iv. and diverse users of the National Forests; 
b. Peaceful voluntary cooperation to coordinate participants’ private property for shared purposes to protect the public health and safety from most common threats;
c. Peaceful voluntary cooperation with services to protect public health, public safety, ecological integrity, and peaceful voluntary cooperation with diverse National Forest users.

100. Defendants’ law enforcement strategy has included in the past, and is likely to include in the future, if not restrained:

a. the selective targeting of individuals who facilitate the peaceful voluntary cooperation enumerated in the sub-paragraphs of paragraph 69b-f;

b. intentional and/or negligent de minimis targeting of individuals who actually threaten public health, public safety, and protection of the environment. 

101. Defendants’ law enforcement strategy of attempting to coerce agency relationships within rainbow gathering culture has not been effective in furthering protection of public health, public safety, the environment, or amicable relations among diverse National Forest users.

102. During the first annual Fourth of July rainbow gathering after the agent requirement became effective, the Forest Service accepted a representative agent signature from an individual in Wisconsin to permit the 1996 rainbow gathering in Missouri on behalf of “Divine Composting and Composing Church of the Sacred Rainbow Imagination.”  
103. Defendants knew or should have known that no one at the rainbow gathering with any legal authority to do so had designated the individual referenced in paragraph 102 as an agent to sign any documents when they accepted his signature.
104. The Forest Service officials who accepted the signature of the individual referenced in paragraph 102 held hands in a circle with him, proclaimed their membership in his church, and proclaimed authorization for him to act as their agent to obtain a permit for the rainbow gathering.

105. On information and belief, Defendants used threats of arrest of the husband and child of a random attendee of the 1997 annual Fourth of July rainbow gathering in Oregon in order to coerce her into supplying a signature for a non-commercial group use permit.
106. Defendants knew or should have known the signer referenced in paragraph 105 did not have any legal authority to act as an agent.
107. Defendants’ efforts to persuade someone to provide a signature for a permit were unsuccessful during each of the annual Fourth of July rainbow gatherings from 1998 to 2002.

108. Defendants targeted enforcement of the agent requirement against individuals perceived to be volunteers to perform functions necessary for peaceful association during rainbow gatherings between 1998 and 2002.  

109. Several of the individuals referenced in paragraph 108 have been incarcerated for non-compliance with the agent requirement between 1999 and 2002.
110. In 2003, one of those individuals referenced in paragraph 109 signed a permit for the annual Fourth of July rainbow gathering under the duress of a reasonable belief that Defendants would make massive law enforcement assaults and batteries if someone did not sign a paper.

111. Defendants knew or should have known that the individual referenced in paragraph 110 who signed papers had not been designated to act as an agent by anyone with legal authority to do so.  

112. In 2004, Defendants were unable to persuade any rainbow gathering attendee to act as an agent for purposes of obtaining a non-commercial group use permit for the annual Fourth of July rainbow gathering, but nonetheless:

a.  accepted the signature of a secretary for a close friend of Defendant Rey;

b. who was in another state at the time;

c. who had never attended a rainbow gathering;

d. who had no intention of attending the rainbow gathering;

e. and who did not attend the rainbow gathering.

113. Defendants knew or should have known the signer referenced in paragraph 112 had not been designated by anyone with legal authority to act as an agent.

114. In 2005, under the duress of hundreds of citations for assembly without a permit and a roadblock prohibiting entry into the divinely recognized annual Fourth of July rainbow gathering site, an individual signed papers to permit a rainbow gathering at another site in West Virginia.
115. Defendants knew or should have known the signer referenced in paragraph 114 had not been designated by anyone with legal authority to act as an agent.

116. No one agreed to sign any papers for any permits during the 2006 annual Fourth of July rainbow gathering in Colorado.

117. On or about June 19, 2006 Defendants established a roadblock prohibiting entry into the divinely recognized annual Fourth of July rainbow gathering site. 

118. On or about June 20, 2006 over 100 hundred non-violent protesters approached from within the rainbow gathering site referenced in paragraph 117 to over 100 feet of the roadblock and confronted the police by yelling the Pledge of Allegiance within audible range.
119. Defendants responded by bearing shotguns and high powered rifles and approaching within 15 feet or less of the protesters.

120. One protester became provocative toward law enforcement officers with abusive language.

121. The rest of the protesters yelled “we love you” and “we mean you no harm” and began to assemble with pilgrims on the outside of the roadblock in a large circle around the roadblock at a distance of over 100 feet from the roadblock.

122. The protesters refused to obey Defendants’ orders to disperse.

123.  Defendants chose to leave the scene of the roadblock.
124. Between June 20 and July 3, 2006 Defendants issued over 500 citations for occupancy of National Forest land without a special use permit during the rainbow gathering referenced in paragraph 117.
125. During the course of enforcing the agency requirement during the 2006 annual Fourth of July rainbow gathering in Colorado, Defendants conducted numerous traffic stops and surveillance of camp sites and assemblies that many rainbow gathering participants found highly objectionable.

126. Plaintiff Nenninger was subjected to a highly objectionable traffic stop and camp surveillance during the 2006 annual Fourth of July rainbow gathering by Defendants, as detailed with more particularity in Counts II and III. 

127. Defendant Forest Service did issue permits for particular wood fireplaces during the 2006 annual Fourth of July rainbow gathering in Colorado.

128. The permits referenced in paragraph 127 did not require any signature or any form of agency representations.
129. Plaintiff Nenninger has been harmed with substantial financial, physical, and emotional distress caused by Defendants’ attempts to enforce the agency requirement.

130. If Defendants are not restrained and enjoined to implement the least restrictive equally effective alternative to the agency requirement, Plaintiff Nenninger and others similarly situated will be irreparably harmed by continuing fraud and duress in violation of the Free Exercise and Establishment Clauses of the First Amendment and 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000bb (RFRA).

131. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Nenninger requests the following relief:

a. Issuance of a temporary restraining order pursuant to Rule 65 (b) prohibiting Defendants from soliciting or accepting a signature for a non-commercial group use permit for a rainbow gathering within this Court’s jurisdiction without first ascertaining the signatory is duly authorized to act as an agent for rainbow gathering participants;
b. Issuance of preliminary injunctive relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1361  mandating that Defendants utilize the least restrictive equally effective alternative to designation of an agent to sign a non-commercial group use permit or otherwise act as an agent for participants in the rainbow gathering occurring in this Court’s jurisdiction at this time;
c. Issuance of a declaratory judgment pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201` holding that the agent requirement is unconstitutionally broad and/or vague on its face in violation of the Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses of the Fifth Amendment and the Free  Assembly and  Association protections of the First Amendment in that it vests unbridled discretion with Defendants to determine what degree of similarity among a group of people is necessary to require issuance of a non-commercial group use permit;
d. A pre-trial conference pursuant to Rule 16 and a reasonable schedule for thorough discovery pursuant to Rule 26;
e. Final judgment after jury trial pursuant to the First Amendment and 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000bb (RFRA) for compensatory damages suffered by Plaintiff Nenninger from the physical and emotional costs of living under continuing threat of prosecution for adhering to exercise of sincerely held religious beliefs;
f. After jury trial in conjunction with Counts II and III of all issues so triable, declaratory judgment and permanent injunction pursuant to Rule 57 and 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201and 2202, holding:

i.  Defendants must utilize the least restrictive equally effective alternative to the agent requirement when application of that regulation substantially burdens exercise of sincerely held religious beliefs;
ii. There is a rebutable presumption that annual Fourth of July rainbow gatherings are religious expressive assemblies whose participants are entitled to strict scrutiny protection under First Amendment and/or RFRA analysis;
iii. Restraining Defendants from taking any action to allow or coerce Plaintiff Nenninger or other annual Fourth of July rainbow gathering participants into acting as agents for other rainbow gathering participants in relation to the Forest Service;

g. Grant Plaintiff Nenninger all reasonable costs and attorney fees;

h. Grant such further and other relief as this Court deems proper under the circumstances.
COUNT II

REQUEST FOR TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER AND PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION, COMPENSATORY DAMAGES DECLARATORY JUDGMENT, AND PERMANENT INJUNCTION
PROHIBITING UNWARRANTED SEIZURES AND SEARCHES
132. Plaintiff Nenninger incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 131 as if fully set forth here.
133. The delegation of authority to law enforcement personnel to control the Forest Service’s Incident Command Team assigned to manage rainbow gatherings is not the least restrictive of the religious liberty interests of Plaintiff Nenninger and others similarly situated.

134. Delegation of authority to resource personnel to control the Forest Service’s Incident Command Team to manage rainbow gatherings is a superior or equally effective manner of furthering the Forest Service legitimate interests in protecting the environment, protecting public health/safety, and allocating use of National Forest land among various users by comparison with delegation of authority to law enforcement personnel.
135. On June 23, 1988 United States District Judge Justice issued an opinion in U.S. v. Rainbow Family, 695 F. Supp. 314, 331-352 (E.D. Texas)  that ordered a permanent injunction mandating that the Forest Service and U.S. Marshal service “take affirmative actions to insure that defendants have free, uninterrupted, unobstructed access, in at least one place, to and from any such designated site, for the purposes of meeting, gathering, and camping” as long as the participants of the un-permitted rainbow gathering maintained specified minimum public health standards. 

136. On February 24, 1998 United States District Judge Schlesinger granted a preliminary injunction against the Forest Service enjoining them “from establishing or participating in roadblock ‘safety checks,’” except for bona fide traffic violation purposes, and “from making any motor vehicle stops and/or searches for criminal purposes without individualized exigent circumstances or other proper and articulable individualized suspicion or probable cause, as the United States Constitution so requires” during a rainbow gathering in Florida. 
137. In the order referenced in paragraph 136, Judge Schlesinger wrote “this evidence strongly suggests that Defendant Forest Service has selectively targeted its enforcement efforts against Plaintiffs, and that its actions may not, at least in some instances, be in accordance with the United States Constitution.” 

138. On June 11, 1999 United States District Judge Clark issued an order permanently enjoining the Forest Service from targeting a roadblock at rainbow gathering attendees in Missouri. 
139. Judge Clark wrote of the roadblock during the 1996 annual Fourth of July rainbow gathering: “it was used as a subterfuge to allow law enforcement officers to question attendees, do plain view searches, and basically attempt to muster up whatever charges they could find to press against Rainbow Family members.” 

140. Judge Clark wrote: “Targeting a group—any group—and setting up a check point in close proximity to the site of their gathering, in order to ferret out a few lawbreakers cannot be done at the expense of trammeling the rights of law-abiding citizens.”…and “the location was chosen to specifically target the Rainbow Family.  By its placement of the checkpoint, it insures that it is not random.” 

141. Judge Clark wrote: “While the court finds that the Forest Service has a legitimate concern on how to handle such a great influx of people on national forest lands, the Fourth Amendment prevents the Forest Service from flexing its law enforcement muscle as a way to accomplish that goal.” 
142. On August 16, 1999 Judge Clark wrote in an order denying the Forest Service’s motion to amend the June 11, 1999 judgment: “no matter what the purpose of the 1996 checkpoint, it was unconstitutional.  That 1996 checkpoint was set up in such a location as to specifically target Rainbow Family members.”…and “the Forest Service may not choose some remote location for its checkpoint, traveled mostly only by those attending the gathering.”…and “Nor may the Forest Service ever use a checkpoint, no matter its location, as an opportunity to ‘generally deter criminal activity.’” (emphasis in original).  
143. On March 3, 2000 the Eighth Circuit reversed Judge Clark’s summary judgment against the Forest Service referenced in paragraph 138 because the plaintiff lacked standing to seek prospective injunctive relief in that she failed to show at the commencement of the litigation that the Forest Service was likely to use an unconstitutional checkpoint in the future.
144. The Eighth Circuit wrote: “we are mindful that the Forest Service admitted to using an improper checkpoint in 1996, and that questionable checkpoints may have been used since that time.  It is possible that Ms. Park would have standing to seek injunctive relief in an action commenced today, if these more recent checkpoints establish a pattern of wrongdoing by the Forest Service.  It is our hope, however, that Ms. Park will not have to resort to legal action again to be free from future violations of her constitutional rights, and that administrators of the Forest Service will ensure that the inappropriate conduct of 1996 is not repeated.” 
145. On June 22, 2006 Plaintiff Nenninger was seized en route to the annual Fourth of July rainbow gathering in Colorado by Defendant Lampshire at a road block within three miles of the gathering site.
146. Defendant Lampshire told Plaintiff Nenninger that the purpose of the seizure referenced in paragraph 145 was to issue a summons to me and my two passengers for occupying National Forest land without a permit.
147. Defendant Lampshire’s official vehicle and another Forest Service law enforcement vehicle completely blocked Plaintiff Nenninger’s ingress to the 2006 annual Fourth of July rainbow gathering site during the seizure referenced in paragraph __.
148. Defendant Lampshire prolonged the detention of Plaintiff Nenninger longer than necessary to conduct an investigation related to the issuance of summonses to Plaintiff Nenninger and his two passengers for occupying National Forest System land without a permit.
149. After Defendant Lampshire had detained Plaintiff Nenninger for over 30 minutes he ordered me and my passengers out of my vehicle so that we could be photographed.   

150. After Plaintiff Nenninger was photographed, Defendant Kragstadt approached me and requested that I give consent to search my vehicle.
151. When Plaintiff Nenninger refused to give consent for Defendant Kragstadt to search my vehicle, Defendant Kragstadt responded that if I did not give consent, he would have to get his dog to sniff my vehicle and said “then I will probably have to tear your van apart.”

152. When Plaintiff Nenninger persisted in refusing to consent to a search, Defendant Kragstadt walked his canine in a circle around my van one time.

153. The canine was in the plain view of Plaintiff Nenninger from the place on the side of the road that Defendant Lampshire detained me.

154. The canine did not demonstrate any change of behavior whatsoever when walking around Plaintiff Nenninger’s vehicle.

155. The canine got excited as Defendant Kragstadt walked it away from Plaintiff Nenninger’s vehicle after Defendant Kragstadt squeezed what appeared to be a ball or toy of some kind in front of the canine’s face.

156. After Defendant Kragstadt secured his canine in his official vehicle, he returned to Plaintiff Nenninger and told me that his dog had signaled and directed me to disclose where the contraband was or else “I’ll have to tear your van apart.”

157. When Plaintiff Nenninger persisted in refusing to consent to a search, Officer Kragstadt got furious and demonstrated physically threatening body language.

158. Defendant Kragstadt commenced a lengthy search of Plaintiff Nenninger’s vehicle and found no contraband in my vehicle.  
159. Defendants Kragstadt and Lampshire informed Plaintiff Nenninger that I was free to go after being detained for over an hour.  

160. The detention of Plaintiff Nenninger on June 22, 2006 was part of a continuing pattern and practice of Defendants selectively targeting traffic stops at attendees of rainbow gatherings.

161. The prolonged detention of Plaintiff Nenninger on June 22, 2006 was part of a continuing practice of using traffic stops of rainbow gathering attendees as a pretext for general law enforcement purposes.  

162. Plaintiff Nenninger was emotionally harmed during the detention and search referenced in paragraphs 145-161 by the unwarranted intrusion of my personal effects, the stress of re-organizing my personal property that was left in a pile on the side of the road after being removed from my van, and the physical pain of severe headaches resulting from prolonged exposure in the sun.

163. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Nenninger requests the following relief:
a. Issuance of a temporary restraining order pursuant to Rule 65 (b) and issuance of preliminary injunctive relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1361 prohibiting Defendants from establishing or participating in any mandatory traffic stops that interfere with any individual’s ingress to any rainbow gatherings currently occurring in this Court’s jurisdiction, except for bona fide traffic violation purposes; and prohibiting Defendants from making any motor vehicle stops and/or searches for criminal purposes without individualized exigent circumstances or other proper and articulable individualized suspicion or probable cause; and prohibiting Defendants from prolonging any traffic stops longer than necessary to diligently investigate the articulable individualized suspicion or probable cause for the detention;
b. A pre-trial conference pursuant to Rule 16 and a reasonable schedule for thorough discovery pursuant to Rule 26;

c. Final judgment after jury trial pursuant to Bivens action under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution for compensatory damages suffered by Plaintiff Nenninger from the physical, emotional, and economic costs of living under the continuing fear of and efforts to avoid unconstitutionally and illegally targeted and conducted mandatory traffic stops and searches, and the emotional and physical pains of actually being subjected to such a seizure and search;
d. After jury trial in conjunction with Counts I and III of all issues so triable, declaratory judgment and permanent injunction pursuant to Rule 57 and 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202:

i.  Declaring Defendants must utilize the least restrictive equally effective alternative law enforcement strategies to mandatory traffic stops when traffic stops affect assembly for purposes of  exercise of sincerely held religious beliefs;

ii. Declaring there is a rebutable presumption that annual Fourth of July rainbow gatherings are religious expressive assemblies whose participants are entitled to strict scrutiny protection under First Amendment and/or RFRA analysis;

iii. Restraining Defendants from taking any action to interfere with free, uninterrupted, unobstructed access to and from any rainbow gathering site within this Court’s jurisdiction;
iv. Mandating Defendants to take affirmative steps to assure that no one interferes with free, uninterrupted, unobstructed access, in at least one place, to and from any rainbow gathering site within this Court’s jurisdiction

e. Grant Plaintiff Nenninger all reasonable costs and attorney fees;

f. Grant such further and other relief as this Court deems proper under the circumstances.
COUNT III

REQUEST FOR COMPENSATORY AND PUNITIVE DAMAGES FOR CONSPIRACY TO INTERFERE WITH CIVIL RIGHTS AND FOR PERMANENT INJUNCTION MANDATING ACCOMODATION OF RELIGION WITH LEAST RESTRICTIVE MEANS

164. Plaintiff Nenninger incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 163 as if fully set forth here.
165. Judge Justice issued the final judgment in U.S. v. Rainbow Family on April 14, 1989 granting attorney fees and costs to counsel for defendants and wrote “Because of the high level of suspicion and animosity observed between members of the Rainbow Family and agents of the Forest Service, the government was directed to conduct inspection of the Rainbow Family gathering site through an independent agency (the U.S. Public Health Service), and enforcement of the terms of the permanent injunction was directed to the United States Marshal for the Eastern District of Texas, rather than the Forest Service.” 
166. Judge Justice wrote “there is substantial support for the defendants’ argument that the government has acted with hostility to the Rainbow Family, in seeking to enforce the special use permit regulations before the 1988 gatherings.”
167. The agent requirement described by Judge Justice as “an additional requirement for a permit which does not appear in the earlier regulations, and which seems to be uniquely applicable to the Rainbow Family” referenced in paragraph 179 is the fruit of conspiracy among unknown John and Jane Does to deprive members of the class described in paragraph 69b of equal protection of federal civil rights to peaceful assembly for the purposes of free exercise of religion, free expression, and to petition the government for redress of grievances.
168. The decision to retain the agent requirement referenced in paragraph 1 in the regulations that became effective in September of 1995 is the fruit of continuing the conspiracy referenced in paragraph 167 by Defendant Hornstein and unknown John and Jane Does.

169.  The decision to delegate control of the Incident Command Team referenced in paragraph 10 to a law enforcement officer rather than a resource management officer is the fruit of continuing the conspiracy referenced in paragraph 167 by unknown John and Jane Does.
170. The hiring and firing decisions for the law enforcement officers on the Incident Command Team referenced in paragraph 10 is the fruit of continuing the conspiracy referenced in paragraph 167 by unknown John and Jane Does.

171. The general pattern and practice of law enforcement complained of in Counts I and II of this Complaint is the fruit of continuing the conspiracy referenced in paragraph 167 by unknown John and Jane Does.
172. Unknown John and Jane Does had knowledge of wrongful acts in furtherance of the conspiracy referenced in paragraph 167 and refused or neglected to take steps to prevent such wrongful acts that actually did occur, although able to prevent those acts with reasonable diligence.
173. In particular, unknown John and Jane Does acted in furtherance of and/or in unforgivable negligence of the conspiracy referenced in paragraph 167 when legal, medical, communications, sanitation, feeding, and ministerial volunteers were selectively targeted for enforcement of the agent requirement, as referenced in paragraphs 69b-f.

174. On June 22, 2006 Plaintiff Nenninger read a Steamboat Springs, Colorado newspaper article stating the Forest Service reported law enforcement officers readied their firearms in response to rainbow gathering participants who had thrown rocks at law enforcement officers during the protest referenced in paragraph 118.  
175. Defendants’ press release referenced in paragraph 174 asserting that law enforcement officers readied their firearms in response to rocks being thrown is false.
176. Plaintiff Nenninger was damaged by unusual glaring inhospitable stares from persons in the McDonald’s restaurant in Steamboat Springs where I read the newspaper article referenced in paragraph 174, and by the intangible stressors of my own and other rainbow gathering participants’ necessary efforts to rehabilitate image from the libelous harms of Defendants’ press release referenced in paragraph 174.
177. The press release referenced in paragraph 174 is part of a pattern and practice of Defendants’ efforts to undermine the degree of peaceful voluntary cooperation among rainbow gathering participants and residents of local communities near rainbow gatherings through libel.

178. The pattern and practice referenced in paragraph 177 is in furtherance of the conspiracy referenced in paragraph 167.

179. The mandatory traffic stops complained of in Count II are part of the conspiracy referenced in paragraph 167.

180.  The possession of firearms outside of vehicles during rainbow gatherings is not consistent with the central tenet of non-violence that serves as the foundation for religious experience during rainbow gatherings.

181. Routine armed patrols of rainbow gatherings for generalized law enforcement purposes without individualized exigent circumstances or other proper and articulable individualized suspicion or probable cause to believe a crime is occurring is a secular pretext to further the conspiracy referenced in paragraph 167 by undermining the central religious tenet of non-violence referenced in paragraph 15.
182. The decision of unknown John and Jane Does to conduct routine armed patrols of rainbow gatherings without individualized exigent circumstances or other proper and articulable individualized suspicion or probable cause of criminal activity substantially burdens the free exercise of the central tenet referenced in paragraph 15.

183. Routine armed patrols of rainbow gatherings without individualized exigent circumstances or other proper and articulable individualized suspicion or probable cause to believe a crime is occurring is not the least restrictive means of furthering Defendants’ compelling governmental interests.

184. The decision of unknown John and Jane Does to conduct routine armed patrols of rainbow gatherings without individualized exigent circumstances or other proper and articulable individualized suspicion or probable cause of criminal activity is part of the conspiracy referenced in paragraph 167.  
185. Plaintiff Nenninger suffered harms from furtherance of the conspiracy referenced in paragraph 167 by experiencing fear of arrest and imprisonment for exercise of my sincerely held religious belief in peaceful voluntary cooperation on numerous occasions during rainbow gatherings since 1995. 
186. Plaintiff Nenninger has been harmed by furtherance of the conspiracy referenced in paragraph 167 by Defendants Lampshire and Kragstadt when seized and deterred from my free movement upon public roadways within the Routt National Forest in Colorado on June 22, 2006 while approaching a rainbow gathering and subjected to unnecessarily prolonged pretextual detention, physically threatening body language by a law enforcement officer, and a canine sniff of the outside of my vehicle that resulted in a supposed positive signal for narcotics in which no contraband was found in my vehicle after a lengthy search.
187. Plaintiff Nenninger suffered harms from furtherance of the conspiracy referenced in paragraph 167 by being subjected to an unwarranted invasion of my reasonable expectations of privacy by Defendant Kragstadt when he ducked under a laundry line demarcating my personal camp space at a rainbow gathering in the Routt National Forest in Colorado during July of 2006 in order to approach my screened tent to within one foot and disrespectfully exclaimed “What, do you just come out here and—and just—Why don’t you people get a job like the rest of us!”, accompanied by physically threatening body language while I was reverently practicing peaceful voluntary cooperation in the form of sacred sensual massage for a naked woman draped under a sheet on my massage table.
188. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Nenninger requests the following relief:

a. A schedule for thorough discovery that is sufficient to accommodate the evasive tactics reasonably predictable from governmental defense of allegations of conspiracy to deprive equal protection, privileges, and immunities of the law in violation of 42 U.S.C. 1985, 1986, 1988, 2000bb, the First Amendment, Fourth Amendment, and Fifth Amendment; 
b. A jury trial of all issues so triable under this Count III and in conjunction with all issues so triable under Counts I and II;

c. Compensatory damages sufficient to make Plaintiff Nenninger whole for the tangible expenditures and years of agony and turmoil caused by the necessity of peacefully resisting fraudulent, libelous, and deceptive covert and overt expressions of oppressive animosity of Defendants’ conspiratorial motives, actions, and neglect to remedy motives and acts in furtherance of conspiracy to deny equal protection of the laws, privileges, and immunities of Plaintiff Nenninger and others similarly situated;

d. Punitive damages to make an example of Defendants’ conspiratorial actions  by awarding an amount of money sufficient to deter Defendants and others similarly situated from future heinous conspiratorial motives, acts, and/or failures to remedy acts and motives in furtherance of conspiracy to deny equal protection of the laws, privileges, and immunities of Plaintiff Nenninger and others similarly situated;
e. After jury trial of all issues so triable, a declaratory judgment finding a history of animosity of Defendants toward rainbow gathering participants and permanent injunctive relief mandating that Defendants accommodate free exercise of sincerely held bona fide religious beliefs during annual Fourth of July rainbow gatherings with the least restrictive means of furthering compelling Forest Service interests.

Further, Plaintiff Nenninger saeth not at this time.
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NOTICE: Until further notice to the court and parties, service of documents in this case can be most reliably provided by sending to the above email address in word document format.
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